

BearWorks

MSU Graduate Theses

Fall 2017

The Effect of Weight Carried and Time Ridden on Back Pain in Horses Ridden During Horse Shows as Determined by Pressure Algometry

Meghan Louise Mothershead Missouri State University, Meghan711@live.missouristate.edu

As with any intellectual project, the content and views expressed in this thesis may be considered objectionable by some readers. However, this student-scholar's work has been judged to have academic value by the student's thesis committee members trained in the discipline. The content and views expressed in this thesis are those of the student-scholar and are not endorsed by Missouri State University, its Graduate College, or its employees.

Follow this and additional works at: https://bearworks.missouristate.edu/theses Part of the <u>Animal Sciences Commons</u>, and the <u>Exercise Science Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Mothershead, Meghan Louise, "The Effect of Weight Carried and Time Ridden on Back Pain in Horses Ridden During Horse Shows as Determined by Pressure Algometry" (2017). *MSU Graduate Theses*. 3206. https://bearworks.missouristate.edu/theses/3206

This article or document was made available through BearWorks, the institutional repository of Missouri State University. The work contained in it may be protected by copyright and require permission of the copyright holder for reuse or redistribution.

For more information, please contact bearworks@missouristate.edu.

THE EFFECT OF WEIGHT CARRIED AND TIME RIDDEN ON BACK PAIN IN HORSES RIDDEN DURING HORSE SHOWS AS DETERMINED BY PRESSURE ALGOMETRY

A Masters Thesis

Presented to

The Graduate College of

Missouri State University

In Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Natural and Applied Science

By

Meghan L. Mothershead

December 2017

Copyright 2017 by Meghan Louise Mothershead

THE EFFECT OF WEIGHT CARRIED AND TIME RIDDEN ON BACK PAIN IN

HORSES RIDDEN DURING HORSE SHOWS AS DETERMINED BY

PRESSURE ALGOMETRY

College of Agriculture

Missouri State University, December 2017

Master of Natural and Applied Science

Meghan L. Mothershead

ABSTRACT

The objective of this study was to determine the effects of weight carried (rider + tack) on back pain in horses used in riding classes and a series of intercollegiate horse shows. Sixteen school horses (431-649 kg) were ridden consistently over a semester. Cross sectional images were used to measure width and put in a mapping program to figure total area. Back pain scores were determined using a pressure algometer on predetermined points over the horses back. Pain scores were recorded over five periods, including 28 d into the semester (P1) and during the show period on three consecutive Fridays from October 30-November 13 (P2-P4). The second and third period (P2-P3) measurements were followed by two days of shows, and (P4) measurements were taken five days after the last show. As a result, horses were tested the Friday before each show. Final pain scores were taken 21 d (P5) after the last show. Percent horse weight carried averaged 16% (range 10-27%). Pain was lowest in P1 and highest in P4 (P<0.05), and decreased (P<0.05) in P5. When entered as covariates, % horse weight carried, wither area (cm^2) , loin width 5cm, and P1 had a negative relationship on back pain scores. Wither width 10cm ventrally from the medial line increased back pain scores. Research with a wider range of weight carried and alternative measurements may elucidate factors contributing to equine back pain.

KEYWORDS: horses, algometry, weight carried, back pain, horse shows

This abstract is approved as to form and content

Gary W. Webb, PhD Chairperson, Advisory Committee Missouri State University

THE EFFECT OF WEIGHT CARRIED AND TIME RIDDEN ON BACK PAIN IN

HORSES RIDDEN DURING HORSE SHOWS AS DETERMINED BY

PRESSURE ALGOMETRY

By

Meghan L. Mothershead

A Masters Thesis Submitted to the Graduate College Of Missouri State University In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements For the Degree of Master of Natural and Applied Science

December 2017

Approved:

Gary W. Webb, PhD: Professor

Lacy D. Sukovaty, DVM: Assistant Professor

William E. McClain, PhD: Assistant Professor

Julie Masterson, PhD: Dean, Graduate College

In the interest of academic freedom and the principle of free speech, approval of this thesis indicates the format is acceptable and meets the academic criteria for the discipline as determined by the faculty that constitute the thesis committee. The content and views expressed in this thesis are those of the student-scholar and are not endorsed by Missouri State University, its Graduate College, or its employees.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am forever grateful for my time at Missouri State University. Graduate school has certainly been challenging and strenuous, both intellectually and personally. But no doubt, has been a blessing and sense of great accomplishment for myself. This would not have been possible without the help and support of so many people.

First and foremost, I would like to thank Dr. Gary Webb for granting me this opportunity. And to both Dr. Webb and Sue Webb for their endless support, guidance, and abundance of knowledge over the years. And to Dr. Lacy Sukovaty, for her support and advisement, and challenging me when I could do more. I would also like to thank Dr. Will McClain and Will Boyer. I am thankful to have had the opportunity to learn under an incredible and talented group of mentors.

I would also like to thank my fellow graduate and undergraduate students, both past and present. This research project would not have been completed without their help and support. Especially Cassie O'Hara, Delaney O'donnell, and Jennifer Moldovon, who assisted and spent hours on all of the data collection.

Lastly, I would like to thank all of my family and friends for their endless support and encouragement through this process. Especially my mother, for her words of wisdom and encouragement, no matter at what hour I needed them. I am truly blessed and thankful to have such a wonderful group of people to support me.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	1
Literature Review	4
Equine Anatomy	4
Pain Assessment	8
Neurophysiology of Pain	9
Subjective vs Objective Testing	10
Physiologic Measurements	11
Behavior Evaluation	12
Horse Grimace Scale	13
Pressure Algometry	14
Visual Assessment	16
Saddle Design	17
Saddle Fit	18
Saddle Pads	19
Girth/Cinch Placement	19
Weight Carrying Capacity	20
Animal Welfare	21
	25
Materials and Methods	25
Animals	25
Collegiate Horse Snows	26
Back Measurements	27
Statistical Analyses	29
Results and Discussion	35
Results	35
Discussion	36
Conclusion	46
Literature Cited	47
Appendices	52
Appendix A. Variation in height (Ht.) and weight (Wt.) of riders in a class at	
an IHSA horse show.	52
Appendix B. Example of a horse list used in IHSA competition	52
Appendix C. Pain scoring system ¹ used to record pain response to	
pressure algometry.	53
Appendix D. Horse grimace scale	54

LIST OF TABLES

,	Table 1. Breed ¹ , gender ² , age, and average weight for each horse used during the
]	project
,	Table 2. Dates and descriptions of periods during the experiment
, 1	Table 3. Anatomical location of pressure algometry measurement sites over the horse's back
,]	Table 4. Descriptive statistics of each period including days in period, mean percenthorse weight carried, number of rides, and minutes ridden40
]	Table 5. ANOVA for December wither area (cm²), wither width 10cm ventrally frommedial line, loin width 5cm ventrally from medial line, %HW carried, and period effecton total pain scores
,	Table 6. Tukey-Kramer procedure for multiple comparisons of back pain score totals foreach period and the change in back pain score from period prior
	Table 7. Regression analysis for total back pain score total versus wither width 10cmventrally from medial line, loin width 5cm ventrally from medial line, wither area inDecember, and percent horse weight carried
	Table 8. Overall mean %HW carried, number of rides, minutes ridden, and back painscore total for each horse during research period
,	Table 9. Wither and loin area (cm ²) in September vs. December compared to body weight change (kg)
,	Table 10. Wither width measurements (cm) compared to weight change (kg) from September to December
,	Table 11. Loin width measurements (cm) compared to weight change (kg) from September to December

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Illustration of the "bow and string" theory	23
Figure 2. Nuchal ligament and its actions on the withers	24
Figure 3. Pressure algometry measurement sites on the horses back	33

INTRODUCTION

In 1876, back problems in horses were among the most common and least understood of equine afflictions (Lupton and Mayhew, 1876). Back pain is still prevalent in horses. A substantial amount of research has been conducted, and is still ongoing, to gain a better understanding into the etiology of this common malady.

Poor performance, or a change in performance, and change in behavior are the most common signs of back pain in the horse (Jeffcott, 1980; Martin and Klide, 1999; Findley and Singer, 2015). In the past, diagnosis was based upon clinical observation only. While these early professionals were expert horsemen, opinions were numerous and varied. Many of the old veterinary textbooks lacked detailed descriptions and facts on back disorders (Jeffcott, 1999). Present-day technology now offers new imaging techniques including radiography, nuclear scintigraphy, and ultrasonography to evaluate the horse's back. Unfortunately, these diagnostic tools are expensive and not readily available to the general practitioner or horsemen (Burns et al., 2016).

Causes of equine back pain are multifarious. Commonly encountered causes can be grouped into either primary or secondary. Primary sources of pain include skin or muscle lesions, spinal trauma, disease, an imbalanced rider, ill-fitting tack, and incorrect training. Back pain may also develop secondarily due to lameness (Greve and Dyson, 2012). The type of work a horse performs correlates with the type and location of pain experienced (Fonseca et al., 2006). Horses used in riding schools are known to have various levels of back pain. In one study 59 riding school horses were evaluated by an equine chiropractic practitioner for back pain and classified as severely affected, slightly

affected, or totally unaffected. Results showed that 73% (n=43) of horses appeared to be severely affected. Severely affected horses were those with at least two severely affected vertebrae. Moreover, 12% (n=7) of horses were slightly affected, with one affected vertebrae, and 15% (n=9) were unaffected (Fureix et al., 2010).

While diagnostic imaging has improved significantly over the last thirty years and diagnosis of back problems are being recognized, the relationship between pain and loss of performance is still unexplained (Burns et al., 2016). For the sake and well-being of the horse, as they are asked and expected to perform to their full potential, understanding equine back pain and its implications is critical for any horse owner or professional.

Working horses are subject to injury like any athlete. Horses used in riding instruction programs and therapeutic programs are likely candidates for back disorders. Due to being ridden by inexperienced riders who lack balance, riders of differing sizes, and poor fitting tack. Little research has been done in a riding program on the effects of weight carried and time ridden, or equine back pain. This particular information could be relevant for a stable manager and the overall welfare of horses in a riding program.

The objective of this study was to determine the effects of weight carried (rider + tack) and time ridden on back pain in horses used in different riding classes and a series of intercollegiate horse shows. It is hypothesized that as horses are ridden throughout the semester, time ridden and weight carried will not have an impact on back pain in horses as measured by pressure algometry.

Due to height and weight restrictions put on some horses at the intercollegiate horse shows, percent horse weight carried rarely reached greater than 20%. Therefore, effect of weight carried was minimized. Also, due to the limited number of horses used in

this study, observation of the effects of weight carried and time ridden may not fully reflect the horse population as a whole.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Equine Anatomy

The axial skeleton of the horse is comprised of the skull, vertebral column, sternum, and ribs. Various muscles and ligaments work together to stabilize and support these structures.

Both head and neck of the horse play an extensive roll in the overall balance of the horse, as the horse carries more weight on his forequarters. The head joins the neck at the poll, followed by seven cervical vertebrae. Helping to support these structures is the *nuchal* ligament, running dorsally from the poll to the spinous processes at the withers (Higgins, 2009).

Thoracic and lumbar vertebrae constitute the largest part of the spine of the equine back. Three principle functions of the vertebral column of the back are: 1) protection of the spinal cord and nerves, 2) support for bearing weight, and 3) assistance with locomotion (Haussler, 1999). Consisting of 18 thoracic and six lumbar vertebrae, this area of the spine is very rigid, with very little movement between joints (Higgins, 2009). Spinal variation can occur between breeds. Arabian and Prjevalsky horses have shown to have the greatest variations between the thoracic and lumbar vertebrae (Stecher, 1962). While Arabian horses have a tendency to have 17 thoracic and occasionally five lumbar vertebrae, a small number of prjevalsky horses examined had 19 thoracic vertebrae and an equal number had either five or six lumbar vertebrae. Attached to the last lumbar vertebrae is the sacrum. Consisting of five vertebrae that fuse together by the time a horse is five years of age. Where the lumbar and sacral vertebrae meet is known as

the lumbo-sacral junction. A very flexible region of the spine, injury can also occur here (Lesimple et al., 2013). Beyond the sacrum, are 15-25 coccygeal vertebrae that extend into the tail, with an average of 18.

Three main ligaments support the back, *supraspinous* ligament, *ventral longitudinal* ligament, and *interspinous* ligament. Laying dorsal and attached to each spinous process from the withers to the sacrum is the *supraspinous* ligament, which supports and stabilizes the back by keeping the vertebrae in place. Attached ventrally to the vertebral bodies and only existing between the T5 vertebrae and other caudal vertebrae, is the *ventral longitudinal* ligament. Supporting the spine in this area of the back, whenever the horse's back is hollowed; the ventral longitudinal ligament stretches. Between spinous processes is the *interspinous* ligament, offering additional support to the spine (Higgins, 2009).

A series of deep muscles function together to protect and support the spine. Medially along the spinous processes from the axis to the tail runs the short back muscle, *multifidus*. This composite muscle is made up of separate units, allowing it to isolate its action on a specific part of the spine. Distal to the *multifidus* runs the long back muscles, *longissimus* and *iliocostalis*. Running the entire length of the back, these muscles contract on both sides and hollow the back. They are also used in turning, rearing, kicking, and jumping (Higgins, 2009; Clayton, 2011). Other muscles not located on the back, but offer additional support and assist with the transfer of motion include the hypaxial muscles, or flexor muscles. Namely, the *internal* and *external oblique* muscles, *transverse abdominal*, and *rectus abdominis* (Higgins, 2009).

A horse's back is well represented by the "bow and string" theory, suggested by Slijper in 1946 (Figure 1). The bow represents the thoracolumbar (TL) spine and epaxial muscles, including the *longissimus dorsi* and *multifidus*, which provide stability and locomotion. The bow is kept under pressure by the string, which represents the sternum and abdominal muscles (Jeffcott, 1979, Burns et al., 2016). Contracting the abdominal muscles will tense the bow as will protraction of the forelegs and retraction of the hind legs, flexing or rounding the back. When the forelegs are retracted and the hind legs are protracted, a decrease in the tension of the bow causes the back to extend or hollow (Townson, 2012).

For the horse to effectively carry the weight of a rider, it is critical that he has a strong core. The rider wants to keep the "bow" tense, or the spine flexed by making the horse engage his abdominal muscles by retracting his hind legs and bringing them underneath him (Higgins, 2009). There have been suggestions that poor stride quality could be improved in horses that performed specific exercises designed to recruit and strengthen the core and locomotor musculature while moving joints through a wide range of motion (Oliveira et al., 2015).

Gymnastic training exercises (GYM), known for stretching and strengthening muscles and preventing injury in humans were adapted for hippotherapy horses (Oliveira et al., 2015). Dynamic mobilization exercises (DMEs) were paired with GYMs to recruit and strengthen abdominal muscles and pelvic stabilizing muscles. Nine healthy and sound horses who had been used in hippotherapy sessions for at least three years, with no signs of muscle lesions upon clinical observation were randomly assigned to three groups: sedentary, DMEs, and DMEs plus GYM. Horses performed exercises for three

months, three times a week, while still performing hippotherapy sessions. DME exercises involved cervical flexion (e.g. chin to chest), a cervical extension exercise, and lateral cervical bending to the left and right (e.g. chin to flank). Pelvic tilting, backing up, walking around tight circles, and stepping over obstacles at a walk constituted GYM exercises.

Results showed a significant difference in stride length and tracking distance over the period of the study, indicating improvement of stride quality and hind limb engagement. DME and DME plus GYM horses both had significant increases in their *multifidus* muscle. Possibly preventing instability of intervertebral joints during locomotion and protecting against future injury (Oliveira et al., 2015).

Head and neck position are equally important to the strength and stability of the horse's back. Lowering the head and neck causes the nuchal ligament to stretch, allowing the *supraspinous* ligament attached to the spinous processes of the thoracic vertebrae at the withers to pull apart. With this action, the other spinous processes of the thoracic and lumbar vertebrae are pulled, and the back and ribcage is lifted (Figure 2). However, when the head and neck are high, the nuchal ligament slackens and the back becomes hollow and weakens (Higgins, 2009).

Head and neck positions of 19 horses from two different schools were observed during two lesson periods in which a beginner riders (less than 50 hours of riding) were observed. In addition spinal exams were conducted on by a chiropractor (Lesimple et al., 2010). Vertebral disorders evaluated by the chiropractor were correlated with postural elements seen during work. A negative correlation was found between rider posture and horse's neck position. The more time the rider spent with low hands and a longer rein the

less time the horse spent with a high or hollowed neck. Lower heels were correlated to a lower neck as well. Contrarily, where high hands, shorter reins, and higher heels implied tension and unbalance. On average, riders spent more time with low hands (elbow angle >100°), but with medium heels (ankle angle 80°-100°) and medium reins (1/2-1 horse's neck). Suggesting that improper riding posture may have a strong impact on the horse's posture, potentially leading to vertebral problems (Lesimple et al., 2010).

Pain Assessment

The International Association for the Study of Pain defines human pain as "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage" (Merskey and Bogduk, 1994). Likewise, not being able to physically or vocally communicate does not discredit the notion that an individual is experiencing pain. The latter definition implies that pain is always subjective. Nonetheless, this definition cannot be directly applied to animals because it entails that we know how that animal feels, and or that animal can verbally communicate their personal experiences to us. Therefore, the most commonly used definition for animal pain is "an unpleasant sensory experience caused by actual or potential injury that brings to bout protective and vegetative reactions, results in learned behavior, and may modify species specific behavior" (Sneddon, 2004).

In other words, an animal will move away and avoid any noxious stimuli by exhibiting some kind of change in behavior that will protect the animal from any further pain or injury. Most spinal or back disorders can be classified under three categories: soft tissue, osseous, or neurological (Haussler, 1999). Soft tissue back disorders can come

from an improper fitting saddle or even sore muscles from being over worked, as the muscles atrophy. Soreness can also occur secondarily from asymmetrical movement, such as a lame horse trying to compensate for a sore limb, therefore using back muscles incorrectly. Osseous back disorders are due to various factors. Developmental issues and normal wear and age are problematic. These problems generally take time to show up (Smith-Thomas et al., 2014)

Neurophysiology of Pain. Pain perception is highly complex. Stimuli are processed and sent to the brain through the nervous system by special neural pathways (Daglish and Mama, 2016). Nociceptors are a type of sensory receptor that respond to potentially tissue damaging stimuli, called noxious stimuli. Noxious stimuli includes, but not limited to, thermal, chemical, or mechanical stimulants. These receptors are free nerve endings found widespread through the peripheral in the superficial layers of the skin. Action potentials, or nerve impulses, are elicited as the cell becomes depolarized. Depolarization occurs as the cell membrane potential increases towards the zero level, and voltage gated ion channels open, allowing an influx of (Na+). Two types of afferent fibers relay information to the spinal cord. Fast-sharp, pricking, pain is sent to the via alpha delta (A δ) fibers. These are medium sized myelinated nerve fibers sending signals at a velocity of 30 m/sec. Slow-chronic pain is transmitted by C fibers. These fibers are small and unmyelinated, sending signals at velocities of 0.5 - 2 m/sec (Guyton, 1991).

Cell bodies are located in the dorsal root ganglion, and information is sent into the spinal cord via the dorsal horn. Depending on fiber type, neurotransmitters glutamate (A δ) and substance P (C-fiber) are transmitted, exciting postsynaptic receptors. These

second order neurons actually cross over in the spinal cord, and continue to carry the action potential up to the brain through the spinothalamic tract. (Guyton, 1991).

Fast-pain fibers terminate in the thalamus of the brain, and pain perception can be easily localized, especially if tactile receptors have been activated as well. Slow fibers terminate widespread through the hindbrain, very few making it to the thalamus. Slowpain localization is very poor, thus a dull, burning, throbbing type pain is perceived.

Acute pain is often characterized as that of short duration and localized to the area of injury or surrounding tissues. Pain follows injury as the body's response is intended to promote removal of injured cells and minimize further damage (Daglish and Mama, 2016).

Chronic pain results from an acutely painful episode that persists beyond the expected period of tissue healing. This state of discomfort is believed to be the result of abnormal signaling from injured tissues, alterations occurring in both peripheral and central nervous systems. Pain may persist or recur for months (Hall et al., 2002). In some cases pain perception is altered, injury and inflammation result in increased sensitivity to non-noxious stimuli (allodynia) and noxious stimuli (hyperalgesia). Nociception can vary according to age, sex, weight, race, and exercise activity (Haussler and Erb, 2006b).

Subjective vs Objective Testing. Objective assessments are based on fact, and are quantifiable and measurable. Objectively testing for pain in animals is challenging due to the nature of pain and the fact that an animal cannot verbally express their feelings (Love et al., 2011). Adding to the difficulty, many objective methods of quantifying pain and back problems in horses are expensive, limited, and difficult to apply to field study (Lesimple et al., 2010). Subjective assessments are more open to different interpretations

based on personal feelings and emotions of the individual evaluator. Interpreting behavior of an animal requires basic understanding of that animal's normal behavior (Taylor et al., 2002).

Physiologic Measurements. Heart rate, respiration rate, temperature, betaendorphins, and corticosteroid levels are objective parameters commonly associated with pain. However shock, stress, medication, and exercise have been recognized to have an influence on these measurements as well (Daglish and Mama, 2016; Taylor et al., 2002).

In female dogs undergoing an ovariohysterectomy, heart rate did not differ in those that received the pain medicine oxymorphone, compared to those who did not. Lack of change in heart rate could was assumed to be from not enough stimulus provided, or a modifying effect of the drug used had occurred (Hansen et al., 1997). In an alternative study, heart rates in horses that had undergone arthroscopic surgery and received phenylbutazone did not differ from horses that had undergone surgery and received no pain medication (Raekallio et al., 1997). Stress can also play a role in the fluctuation of heart rate. Laboratory monkeys had a significantly increased heart rate in response to routine cage change in a laboratory scenario (Balcombe et al., 2004). In consideration, pain may be present in any animal without elevated heart rates (Taylor et al., 2002).

Beta-endorphins are neurotransmitters naturally produced in the body that have an analgesic property. They are produced in response to certain stimuli, especially to stress, pain, or fear. It has been established that the pituitary secretes the beta-endorphins into the blood circulation along with adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) in response to stress (Höllt et al., 1979). Therefore, making it difficult to identify the degree of pain the

animal is in, and levels differ between each individual. No significant differences were found in plasma beta-endorphin levels in horses given phenylbutazone and those given the placebo undergoing arthroscopic surgery (Raekallio et al., 1997). Howbeit, individual response to arthroscopy surgery seemed to be higher in horses that were not treated with the NSAID.

An indicator of stress, adrenal corticosteroids can be used in conjunction with other objective measures of pain. However, it is not suggested to solely use cortisol as a measure of pain. Due to the multitude of outside stressors that can have an effect on concentrations, besides just pain (Taylor et al., 2002). In sheep with chronic foot rot, differing cortisol concentrations between two studies were associated with survival, as one flock was larger than another. The smaller flock of sheep had less cortisol, due to food and water resources being easier to access (Ley et al., 1991; Ley et al., 1994). When cows were acutely exposed to moderate heat conditions (30°C), plasma cortisol significantly increased within the first 20 minutes, and peaked at 2h. Although under chronic conditions, after weeks of exposure, cattle became acclimated to conditions, and cortisol levels fell (Christison and Johnson, 1972). When horses were ran on a treadmill and acclimated to hot humid conditions, a reduction in cortisol levels was not seen (Williams et al., 2002). Cortisol did not correlate with expected pain in horses undergoing arthroscopy surgery. However, concentrations were higher, although not significantly, in the placebo group horses (Raekallio et al., 1997).

Behavior Evaluation. Behavior based pain assessment is subjective and limited by the knowledge and experience of the observer and time making the observations. Horses are a flight or fight animal, therefore it can be difficult to establish whether they

are experiencing pain or some other unpleasant sensation. Behavioral signs affecting pain scores in any animal encompasses temperament, vocalization, posture, locomotion, and other behavioral changes (Bufalari et al., 2007). Behaviors recognized as indicating pain or at least discomfort in horses include: restlessness, excitement, head tossing, tail swishing, ear pinning, stamping feet, and in severe cases kicking or biting (Taylor et al., 2002, Lesimple et al., 2010). Specifically, horses experiencing back pain may show resentment towards the saddle, back sinking when a rider mounts, failure to give to riding aids, bolting, and bucking (Taylor et al., 2002).

Pain scoring systems for animals can be partitioned into three different tests: visual analog scales, numeric rating scales, and simple descriptive scales.

Visual analog scales consist of an observer making observations of an animal's behavior and physiologic parameters, and marking them on a scale from "no pain" to "worst pain possible" often a 0-100 scale. Numeric rating scales assess pain through different parameters such as heart rate and behavior, on a scale from 0-10 with 10 being the maximum pain felt. Numbers are added together in some form of intricate scoring system. Weighting different scores to a particular set of conditions being observed would allow for a more linear scale (Taylor et al., 2002). For example, the Melbourne pain scale consists of six categories, each category contains four levels, and levels are allotted scores (Hansen, 2003). Simple descriptive scales use a numeric scale combined with a behavioral description. Oftentimes, subjective assessments are paired with objective assessments to evaluate animal pain (Taylor et al., 2002).

Horse Grimace Scale. Facial expressions have been used to assess pain and other emotional states in humans who could not verbally communicate such as neonates

(Grunau and Craig, 1987). Pain assessment using facial expressions of rabbits and rodents has recently been published (Sotocina et al., 2010; Keating et al., 2012). There are a number of advantages to using species-specific grimace scales. Advantages to using include learnability, safety of the observer, as well as using basic human nature to focus on the face when looking at an animal in pain (Costa et al., 2014).

The horse grimace scale was developed using 40 stallions of different breeds undergoing routine castration. The scale is comprised of six facial units, on a scale of 0-2, from not present to obviously present. Subjects in the study were allowed an acclimation period to adjust to their new surroundings. Video sequences were recorded pre-procedure and eight hours post-procedure. Behavior states and frequency were recorded. Images were compared by a blind observer experienced in assessing facial expressions in other species, based on these the horse grimace scale was developed. To test the scale, 126 images were scored by five observers all from different backgrounds (e.g. veterinary surgeons, welfare researchers). Individual accuracy among participants ranged 68-78%. High inter-observer reliability was demonstrated. Although lacking in physiologic observations, the horse grimace scale was compared to a composite pain scale. Positive correlation was observed between scores (Costa et al., 2014). This method of pain assessment as well as other methods are limited by thought that prey species have the ability to mask obvious signs of pain under certain circumstances, such as being in the presence of a predator like a human (Taylor et al., 2002; Costa et al., 2014).

Pressure Algometry. Response to pressure using a quantifiable force applied to a part of the body is a prevalent method for determining pain thresholds (Taylor et al., 2002). Pressure algometry (PA) uses a mechanical device to quantify the subjective

assessment of pain pressure thresholds. Attached to a small rubber tip, the pressure gauge, measured in kg/cm², is pressed against a predetermined landmark until a perceived noxious reaction is produced (Haussler and Erb, 2006b). This method provides a noninvasive, easy to use, repeatable method for pain measurement in horses (Haussler and Erb, 2003). Mechanical nociceptive thresholds (MNTs) are described as the minimum pressure that induces a pain response. Therefore, a high MNT score would indicate a higher pain tolerance compared to a low MNT score, indicating a low pain tolerance (Haussler and Erb, 2003). Pressure algometry has been used to detect musculoskeletal pain in both humans and horses (Vanderweeën et al., 1996, Heus et al., 2010; Haussler and Erb, 2006a).

In a pilot study conducted over two consecutive years in 2000 and 2001, 20 clinically sound and healthy horses with induced back pain were used to assess the ability of PA to identify a known musculoskeletal injury. Two fixation half-pins were placed in the dorsal spinous processes of two adjacent vertebrae. Overall, consistent responses to the applied pressure were easily identified at all sites. Researchers were able to recognize the exact placement of the pins as a result of dramatic and localized decreases in MNTs at and adjacent to pin-placement sites.

Similarly PA has been used to establish a pressure pain threshold within the axial skeleton and evaluate differences among individuals (Haussler and Erb, 2006b). Sixtytwo midline and bilaterally symmetrical sites including bony and soft tissue landmarks, and apices of dorsal spinous processes were used. Thirty-six mature horses (10 nonridden and 26 actively ridden) of various breeds, ages, and weights were assessed. Interestingly, there seemed to be a tendency for a higher threshold tolerance in young,

heavy, non-Thoroughbred, castrated male horses. However, these results were not significant. In horses, differences in nociception might occur due to behavioral issues like adaptation, response to environmental stimuli, or mental alertness. Consistent and substantial increases in MNT scores of the actively ridden horses were observed. Possibly due to the variability between years or the type and duration of exercise (Haussler and Erb, 2006b).

Inter-examiner reliability was found to be good, and intra-examiner reliability was found to be moderate to good in a study using Icelandic horses (Menke et al., 2016). Intra-examiner reliability was lower possibly due to a lack of experience by one handler. Further research is needed to evaluate whether reliability is influenced by experience. Possible limitations to PA include a learning effect or increased sensitivity, described in one study, as some horses started shaking their head in anticipation before the algometer was applied (Heus et al., 2010). Albeit in this particular study, two measurement sessions were performed on the same day. Lower MNT scores in the evenings were possibly due to sensitization of measurement locations.

Visual Assessment. Lameness can be directly correlated to back problems. Lameness originating from a limb may have a significant impact on the motion of the horses back likely causing secondary back problems. Prevalence of lameness in horses with back problems was studied in a population of 805 horses with orthopedic problems from a mixed background of work (Landmann et al., 2004). Work background included dressage (70%), show jumpers (20%), and trotters (10%). Lame horses were defined based on the American Association of Equine Practitioners lameness score based on a scale of 1-5. Horses with at least two at the trot and/or who improved by at least 50%

after a nerve block were labeled as lame. Out of the 805 horses, 434 (53.9%) were lame without a back problem, 72 (8.9%) had a back problem but sound, 208 (25.8%) were lame and had a back problem, and 91 (11.3%) were sound and did not have a back problem.

Saddle Design

Historically saddle designs were made by memory, knowledge, experience, and feel (Greve and Dyson, 2012). Generally, saddle makers start with a rigid frame, referred to as the tree of the saddle. When well fitted, the tree is meant to distribute the load on the horse's back. Unfortunately, it cannot change shape with the horse. Padding, air bags, and flexible trees have been used to help alleviate some of this stress. More recently, tree-less saddles have been constructed to fit a wider range of horses and void pressure points underneath an ill-fitting saddle. Allowing flexibility, these saddles unfortunately do not distribute the load like a saddle with a tree would (Greve and Dyson, 2012).

In a 2012 study comparing pressure distribution under a conventional dressage saddle compared to a treeless dressage saddle, eight clinically sound Arabian riding school horses were ridden by a single rider of an experienced level (Belock et al., 2012). One brand and model of conventional and tree-less saddles were used on all eight horses using traditional girthing systems. Pressure measurements were made using an electronic mat underneath the saddle and five consecutive strides were analyzed using custom software. Locomotion changes total force between the saddle and back of the horse with limb movements between each gait. Force distribution was more uniform under the conventional saddle than the treeless saddle, which had focal areas of pressure beneath

the rider's seat bones and resulted in higher forces under the middle third of the saddle. Consistently high pressure (>11kPa) throughout the horse's stride occurred over the epaxial musculature. This particular area is susceptible to pressure induced pain (Belock et al., 2012). Mean pressure of (>11kPa) was found to be a point for stimulation of back pain (Byström et al., 2010).

Saddle Fit. Ill-fitting saddles can do irreparable damage to a horse's back. Physical evidence of a poor fitting saddle includes sores, white hairs, temporary swelling, scars or hard spots, and muscle atrophy (Harman, 2004). Saddle fitting is an intricate process and must fit the horse's back, whose shape is constantly changing at different gaits. Additionally, the saddle must fit the rider, allowing them to stay balanced and in synch with their horse. Unfortunately, there is no standardized method to saddle fitting. Generally horse owners must place the saddle on the horse's back to check position, then palpating underneath for pressure points and tree clearance (Harman, 2004).

Mean pressure values of >11 kPa are thought to be detrimental. Focal pressure in the cranial saddle region was compared in normal horses and horses with dry spots and muscle soreness or swelling at a walk, trot, and canter. In the control group, mean pressure values ranged from 7.8 kPa at a walk and 10.9 kPa at a canter. Horses with muscle soreness and swelling had mean pressure points twice as much than the control group (Greve and Dyson, 2012).

Saddle pressure pads provide for an objective method of measurement for determining pressures on the horses back while standing and moving (Meschan et al., 2007). Horses not only carry the weight of a rider plus tack, but also a dynamic load when moving, which can be as great as 380N, discovered after ground reaction forces

were measured (Clayton et al., 1999). In a study evaluating pressure distribution under an English saddle at a walk, trot, and canter, maximum overall force increased as gait increased (Fruehwirth et al., 2004).

Force applied to the horse's back increases with rider load and increased velocity. Consequently, focal concentration of forces beneath riders, induced by a poor fitting saddle is cause for concern with heavier riders, especially at high forward gaits (Greve and Dyson, 2012).

Saddle Pads. Oftentimes, if the horse's back pain can be referred back to an illfitting saddle, riders will place a thicker pad underneath the saddle. Symptoms may disappear temporarily, but typically return. Due to the fact that pressure points do not disappear, but shift to a new location with the different pad (Harman, 2004). Saddle pads were tested to see if they helped fitting an excessively wide saddle by reducing forces and pressure. Four different types of saddle pads were used in this study; gel, foam, leather, and reindeer fur (Kotschwar et al., 2009). No significant difference was found between pads during trials. At a walk, the foam pad had the lowest force value while at a trot, the gel pad had the lowest force value. However, when assessing pad effects per horse, at least one saddle pad for each horse reduced maximal overall force.

Girth/cinch Placement. In a 2010 study, six warmblood horses, each ridden by three different riders ranging in weight from 53-66 kg were used to test the influence of girth strap placement on the pressure pattern that occurs during riding. An experimental custom saddle built on a jumping saddle tree was used and the saddle had exchangeable panels fastened with screws and two sets of girth straps. One set of straps were located where they traditionally are on a jumping saddle, while the other set consisted of a cranial

strap attached to the point of the tree and a caudal strap with a sliding attachment to a sling fastened over the midline and posterior parts of the tree of the saddle. The latter set of girth straps are referred to as a v-system. Saddle fit was found to be sufficient in all six horses, but not perfect. A sensor mat was used to measure the pressure at both a sitting and rising trot, and rising canter. Traditional girthing was found to be equally good if not better than the v-system. Increased peak pressures were observed using the v-system under the anterior portion of the saddle possible due to the cranial girth strap being placed farther forward developing a leverage type action and pulling the saddle down more (Bystrőm et al., 2010).

Weight Carrying Capacity

Many horse owners and riders go by the 20% rule in regards to weight carrying capacity of horses which is thought to have originated from the 1920 US Cavalry Horseman & Horsemanship Manual. An evaluation of the indicators of weight carrying capacity was assessed using eight riding horses ranging in weight from 391-625 kg and from 6-18 years of age. Monitoring heart rates, respiration rates, rectal temperatures, plasma lactate and creatine kinase concentrations, muscle soreness, and muscle tightness. Measurements were taken before and after horses performed a submaximal standard exercise test mimicking a 45-minute working session of a riding lesson horse. Researchers found that heart rates, respiration rates, and rectal temperatures differed significantly when horses carried 25 and 30% of their body weight compared to 15 and 20% body weight. Plasma lactate and serum creatine kinase concentrations were both significantly higher immediately after workout sessions when horses carried 30% of their body weight. Creatine kinase levels remained elevated at 24 and 48 hours as well. The most significant change in muscle soreness and tightness was observed when horses were measured 24 and 48 hours after exercises, carrying 25 and 30% of their body weight. Given the results of this study, the authors concluded that a horse should not carry a load in excess of 20% of their body weight (Powell et al., 2008)

Effects of weight load was also observed using heart rate, cortisol, and behavior as parameters. An exercise protocol of moderate work intensity was performed at 15, 20, 25, and 30% of each horse's body weight. Treatments were not significant, although a negative correlation between weight and behavior was seen. As weight increased, behavior scores decreased. Results of this study differed from similar studies. Speculation indicated that a difference in pre-study fitness as well as exercise intensity could have effected results (Ernst et al., 2015).

Whether or not live weight versus dead weight affected a horse was observed in one study (Oldruitenborgh-Oosterbaan et al., 1995). Nine warmblood horses were worked on a treadmill carrying 90 kg of weight either with a rider or without. Horses ranged in weight from 550-714 kg. No differences were found in HR and plasma lactate in horses regardless of weight carried. However, fetlock extension and movement increased with dead weight.

Animal Welfare

Back problems in horses occur regularly in horses, particularly riding school horses (Lesimple et al., 2010; Fureix et al., 2010). Often they go undetected, given that objective assessment is limited to the common horse owner, and behavior is often blamed

on other factors. In a 2013 study, owners/caretakers from 17 riding schools were asked if the horses (n=161) in their care, suffered from chronic back pain, lameness, or any other chronic health problem during the past year (Lesimple et al., 2013). Back pain was assessed by manual palpation from an experienced chiropractor and static surface electromyogram (sEMG) testing was also used. Out of the 59 horses with severely affected backs (at least 2 vertebral sites affected), only 22% (n=13) were reported by their owners/caretakers as having back pain. Although given the opportunity to answer on the questionnaire, none of the respondents reported anything concerning possible causes of back pain or how back pain is identified.



Figure 1. Illustration of the "bow and string" theory (Slijper, 1946; Jeffcott, 1979).



Figure 2. Nuchal ligament and its actions on the withers (Denoix, 1987; Townson, 2012).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Fourteen quarter horses (6 geldings and 8 mares) and two quarter horse x thoroughbred crosses (1 gelding and 1 mare) ranging in age from 3-22 years old and in weight from 471-649 kg (mean of 570 kg) were ridden in a university riding program at Missouri State University's Pinegar Arena during the fall 2015 semester (Table 1). Additionally horses performed in two consecutive collegiate horse shows during this time. Time during the semester was divided into five periods (Table 2) and rider weight, and tack, were both recorded.

Horses were not fed special diets during this project; most (n=12) were kept on pasture and supplemented fescue hay and grain as needed in an effort to maintain weight and body condition scores. Horses kept in stalls (n=3), one 3.6m x 10.8m and two 3.6m x 6.6m, were fed hay and grain twice a day and turned out in an arena on a regular basis each week for exercise. While one horse was housed in a 35m x 35m outdoor arena and fed hay and grain twice a day. Weights were taken once, before the project began, then during each period through the project. Average of these values was calculated and recorded, and used to calculate the percent horse weight ridden during the project. All procedures involving the use, care, and management of horses in this project was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use committee of Missouri State University (IACUC protocol # 16-001.0-A). This project was funded by the USDA-NLGCA Capacity Building Grant (#102387). As part of the Missouri State University equine program, horses were used in various riding classes during the semester including introduction to riding, horse training, and riding for instruction classes. Additionally horses were also used in competitive equestrian team practices including: western horsemanship, hunt seat equitation, jumping, and ranch horse. Amount of work done in each class varied, for example, an introduction to riding class featuring beginner riders with minimal experience, would normally consist of an approximate 30-40 minute walk/trot riding lesson Where a competitive practice class with riders of various levels of experience usually consists of a 60-90 minute lesson at a walk/trot/lope and pattern work. On average horses in this project were ridden five times a week (range: 0-13), excluding the two horse show weekends. Horse's skill set and tolerance were taken into consideration when assigned to classes each week.

Collegiate Horse Shows

The Intercollegiate Horse Show Association (IHSA) is a non-profit organization that promotes competition for riders of all skill levels. Riders compete individually and as teams at regional, zone, and national levels. Within regions, schools travel to shows at hosting colleges (Appendix A). In an effort to match rider skill with horse, horses are assigned to a class, and riders from that class randomly draw for a horse. Rider height/weight limits are set for some horses for different reasons (Appendix B). Various reasons for this practice include age, wither height, and health of the horse. Limits for height/weight are set at each show by the hosting college or owner of the horses. As a result, horses are paired more closely to riders the hosting college deems of an appropriate size.

During the experimental period, Missouri State University hosted two IHSA shows held over consecutive weekends. The first of which was a western show (Oct. 31-Nov. 1), followed by a hunt seat show the next weekend (Nov. 7-Nov 8). Saddles were weighed before each show and assigned a number. Therefore, one individual could stand in the paddock area and record the saddle each horse originated with and any following tack changes throughout the show. Warm-up riders were weighed either before or after warming up their horse. Weights had to be estimated for some riders, since these riders were from other universities and did not provide official weights. IHSA riders were asked to voluntarily stand on a scale fully dressed with show clothes either before they mounted, or after they finished their class. Howbeit, some riders denied this request. Thus an average weight was calculated from previously documented weights and recorded for these riders instead. Rider weights were recorded under horse's names to remain anonymous. Another individual sat in the spectator stands and recorded warm up times for each horse and class times. Use of human subjects in this research project was approved by IRB protocol (IRB-FY2017-197).

Back Measurements

Pain scores were determined using the FPK 60 pressure algometer (Wagner Instruments, Greenwich, CT) by applying pressure to predetermined points on the horse's withers, back, and loin. This nonelectrical pressure algometer has a 1 cm² rubber tip and can hold a maximum reading of 30 kg. A force of 5 kg of pressure was found to be efficient enough to elicit a response in a previous study where the median pressure pain thresholds at surgical sites was 5.5 kg/cm² (Haussler and Erb, 2006a). Pain was scored

based on the Pain Scoring System (Appendix C) as adapted from a previous study (Heus et al., 2010), as well as the Horse Grimace Scale (Appendix D) as adapted from a previous study (Costa et al., 2014). Measurements were repeated three times consecutively, and an average score was recorded and used for data analysis. On measurement days, horses were brought into the stock tie areas in pairs. All doors to the area were shut to limit outside distractions. A soft flat ruler was taped to the horse's back, starting from the beginning of the withers back caudally to the loin, in an effort to improve accuracy and precision. To limit inconsistence in measurements examiners remained the same through the duration of the project.

Back pain scores were recorded over five periods (Table 1). Including 28 days into the semester (P1), and during the show period on three consecutive Fridays from October 30 - November 13 (P2 – P4). The first and second of which (P2 – P3) measurements were followed by two days of horse shows on Saturday and Sunday, and the last (P4) measurement was taken five days after the last show. As a result, horses were tested the Friday before and after each show. Final pain scores were taken 21 days (P5) after the last show.

Back measurement locations were chosen based on other research (Haussler and Erb, 2006b; Heus et al., 2010) as well as taking various saddles placed on the horse's back and manually palpating underneath for contact areas. Without an official protocol existing to measure saddle fit, it was determined that using both the shortest and longest western and hunt seat saddles on the bare back of the horse would give an acceptable representation of pressure points. A total of 26 measurement sites were selected; 12 on both sides of the horse, and two midline measurements (Figure 3 and Table 3).

Total back area was compared by measuring two positions on the horse's back (withers, loin) once at the beginning of the project and at the end. Area was measured by shaping a flexible ruler (Goldstar Tools, Los Angeles, CA) into position on each horse at 7.62cm caudal from the start of the withers, and 58.42cm caudal from the start of the withers. Shape of the ruler was traced onto graph paper, and drawings were digitalized and ran through a mapping program (ArcGIS 10.2.2, Esri, Redlands, CA) to determine left, right, and total area. Scales were set within the program to measure square inches instead of square miles. Measurements were later converted to centimeters squared for analysis. To compare back shapes of each horse relative to where the bars of the saddle tree would hit, back tracings on graph paper were measured 5 cm and 10cm from the most dorsal point on both the withers and loin.

Statistical Analyses

The effects of weight carried and time ridden on back pain scores for horses and periods were assessed using a general linear model (GLM) analysis of variance (ANOVA) procedures of Minitab 17 (Penn State, State College, PA). All inferences were made based on a type-III error rate of 0.05. Model included wither and loin area, width measurements at the withers and loin, time ridden, percent horse weight carried, horse and period. All variables except for horse and period were ran as covariates. For all analyses period was treated as a fixed factor and horse was treated as a random factor. All effects and interactions were considered significant when (P< 0.05). When the F test showed significance (P<0.05) means were separated using Tukey-Kramer procedure for

multiple comparisons. Regression analysis was run on Microsoft Excel, with pain totals as the dependent variable.

Horse	Breed	Gender	Age	Average Weight (kg)
1	Appendix	Gelding	17	613
2	QH	Gelding	16	649
4	QH	Gelding	19	612
5	QH	Mare	8	563
8	Appendix	Mare	10	585
14	QH	Mare	13	503
16	QH	Gelding	3	578
17	QH	Mare	16	518
18	QH	Mare	10	543
19	QH	Mare	10	571
20	QH	Mare	15	554
21	QH	Gelding	4	564
22	QH	Mare	22	471
24	QH	Mare	7	579
25	QH	Gelding	15	644
26	QH	Gelding	15	571
Average	-	-	13	571

Table 1. Breed¹, gender², age, and average weight for each horse used during the project.

¹Quarter Horse x Thoroughbred Cross (Appendix), Quarter Horse (QH) ²Castrated Male (Gelding), Intact female (Mare)

Table 2. Dates and descriptions of periods during the experiment.

Period	Date	Description
1	Sep 4 – Oct 2	Beginning of semester, horses out of shape
2	Oct 3 – Oct 30	Horses being ridden consistently, getting in shape for western show
3	Oct 31 – Nov 6	Western show (Oct 31 – Nov 1), horses still get ridden, getting ready for hunt seat show
4	Nov 7 – Nov 13	Hunt seat show (Nov 7 – Nov 8), some horses get 1 or 2 day break, classes continue
5	Nov 14 – Dec 4	End of semester, horses still worked in classes



Figure 3. Pressure algometry measurement sites on the horses back.

Numerical Abbreviation	Anatomical Location
1,13	7.62 cm caudal from start of wither, 7.62 cm off midline
2,14	15.24 cm caudal from start of wither, 7.62 cm off midline
3,15	15.24 cm caudal from start of wither, 15.24 cm off midline
4,16	35.56 cm caudal from start of wither, 7.62 cm off midline
5,17	35.56 cm caudal from start of wither, 15.24 cm off midline
6,18	43.18 cm caudal from start of wither, 7.62 cm off midline
7,19	43.18 cm caudal from start of wither, 15.24 cm off midline
8,20	50.8 cm caudal from start of wither, 7.62 cm off midline
9,21	58.42 cm caudal from start of wither, 7.62 cm off midline
10,22	68.58 cm caudal from start of wither, 7.62 cm off midline
11,23	68.58 cm caudal from start of wither, 7.62 cm off midline
12	Left Hip
24	Right Hip
25	76.2 cm caudal from start of wither, on midline
26	83.82 cm caudal from start of wither, on midline

Table 3. Anatomical location of pressure algometry measurement sites over the horse's back.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Results

Descriptive analysis of each period was recorded (Table 4). Riding concentration was calculated by dividing minutes ridden by number of days in each period. Period one had the second highest number of recorded rides (n=252), with the largest riding concentration. During the show period (P3-4), riding concentration, minutes ridden, and number of rides were substantial compared to the number of days in each period. Period five had the least number of rides (n=114) with a smaller riding concentration compared to other periods.

When treated as covariates, loin width measurement at 5cm ventrally from the midline, wither width measurement at 10cm ventrally from the midline, wither area measured in December, period, and percent horse weight carried all had a significant effect (P<0.05) on total pain scores (Table 5). Period also had an effect (P<0.05) on the change of pain scores between period and period prior. Tukey pairwise comparisons (Table 6) showed total pain scores for P1 and P4 were significantly different (P<0.05) than pain scores in periods two, three, and five. Pain scores being significantly less in P1 and significantly greater in P4. Change in pain score from P4 to P5 decreased significantly P<0.05) than the change in pain score observed during any other period. Regression analysis was recorded for covariate variables that showed significance in the ANOVA test (Table 7). The r² values explain very little of the variation of the variables effect on pain scores. Overall mean percent horse weight carried over this project was $16\% \pm 4\%$, with a range of 10 - 26%, with each horse averaging 69 rides (Table 8). Changes in weight were

compared to wither and loin area measurements from September and December (Table 9) and wither and loin width measurements from September to December (Table 10 & 11). No obvious relationships between change in weight and change in area or width could be found.

Discussion

Mean total pain scores gradually increased as the project progressed and decreased significantly in the last period. These findings coincide with period descriptions (Table 2). As P1 is close to the beginning of the semester, and after having a summer off on pasture, a lower pain score was expected. Pain scores increased as the semester continued and horses were ridden more consistently. Although not significant, the increase in pain between P1 and P2 was considerable, possibly due to muscle fatigue as horses were becoming more fit, preparing for the first horse show. Period four was after two contiguous weekends of horse shows. Horses were ridden more frequently by a large number of different riders during a relatively short time span. There were approximately 182 rides over the weekend of the western show, and 119 rides at the hunt seat show. Mean total pain scores were highest during this period. Change in pain scores from P4 and P5 significantly decreased, most likely due to the fact that horses were not being ridden as consistently or intensely. Period 5 had the least number of rides. Consequently because of the 18 days included in this period, there were approximately only eight days of riding. This was due to another horse show out of town, therefore there were no riders, and a week of holiday break.

Mean percent horse weight carried did not vary much between periods. It was thought that horses might carry more weight more often at the western horse show during

the project due to the variety of riders, added weight of show clothing, and random draw. Nonetheless, with a weight protocol set, this was not seen. While there is no official weight carrying protocol for IHSA shows, a limit is set by each hosting college or owner of the horse. At both shows, height/weight limits were set at (>170 cm and/or >75 kg). This meaning that any horse with a height/weight limit set for them could not carry these riders. Therefore, horses carried an average of 16% of their body weight during the show period, no different than the overall mean for the entire project. There was only 28 occurrences of horses carrying 20% of their body weight or greater. Horses did nevertheless carry more weight at the western show compared to the hunt seat show, but this was expected due to difference in weight of tack. Percent horse weight carried had a negative relationship on back pain total scores. As percent horse weight carried increased, pain total scores decreased. This negative relationship is likely a consequence of outliers and the immense variation between horses. Horses 2 and 8 consistently had high pain score totals compared to other horses. This was even with horse 8 having height/weight restrictions on her during the horse shows. Where horses 1 and 4, who did not have height/weight restrictions and were ridden just as often if not more, had very low pain score totals. Period 1 had a negative relationship with the covariates compared to periods 2, 3, and 4. Likely due to P1 being one of the longest periods and having the heaviest riding concentration.

Changes in weight were compared to wither and loin area measurements from September and December (Table 9) and wither and loin width measurements from September to December (Table 10 & 11). No obvious relationships between change in weight and change in area or width could be found. For example, horse 24 lost 20 kg of

weight but gained area and width in both withers and loin. It has been suggested that a 16 -20 kg change in weight could be enough to change BCS in a horse (Heusner, 1993). December measurements were in the winter time when the weather was cold, and most horses did have noticeably thicker hair with their winter coats. This factor could possibly have had a small effect on measurement differences. Nonetheless wither area at the end of the project, wither width measured 10cm ventrally from the medial line, and loin width measured 5cm ventrally from the medial line were shown to have a significant effect on back pain totals. Regression was run on these covariates, and while the numbers were low, these variables do have some impact on pain scores. Wither area and loin width both had a negative relationship with back pain total scores. As area and width increased, pain scores decreased. In contrast, wither width had a positive relationship with pain score totals. As wither width increased, pain scores increased. The latter positive relationship could be explained by saddle fit, or lack thereof. Narrow saddles being placed on wider horses. Wither area is a common problem area when dealing with horses (Harman, 2004, Peinen et al., 2010). Particularly when looking at saddle fit. It is certainly plausible that ill-fitting tack could explain some of these findings. Particularly when saddles are not assigned to horses, and this decision is left to the knowledge and choice of student riders. Further research would be needed to confirm this assumption.

Immense variability between horses can be seen in number of rides, time ridden, and pain total scores (Table 8). Difference between number of rides and time ridden between horses can be justified by the horse's skill set and tolerance level. Horses like 18, 24, and 26 were used in every riding class and practice due to their knowledge and easy demeanor. These classes and practices include the introduction to riding class,

competition equitation practice, and ranch horse practice. Five horses were used for the western equitation show only, and not in the hunt seat show. Explaining some of the great variability in number of times ridden.

Pain is felt differently in every individual (Sneddon, 2004; Taylor et al., 2002). Some are more sensitive than others. Furthermore, some horses in this project were known to have had a hypersensitive back in previous semesters prior to this study. This can account for some variability in pain score totals. Horses 2, 8, and 17 had shown signs consistent with sensitivity in the back in the past. Signs included aggressive tail swishing and head shaking both while being groomed and being ridden, especially at a trot and lope. Also, these horses would show other signs of resentment while being groomed and saddled such as ear pinning, foot stomping, and at times trying to bite (Taylor et al., 2002; Findley and Singer, 2015).

Period	Number of	Mean Percent	Number of	Minutes	Riding
	Days in	Horse Weight	Rides	Ridden	Concentration
	Period	Carried			
1	19	0.17 ± 0.03	252	16441	865.3
2	27	0.17 ± 0.03	335	19938	738.4
3	7	0.17 ± 0.03	225	4099.5	585.6
4	7	0.15 ± 0.03	190	5171.5	738.8
5	18	0.16 ± 0.03	114	7075	393.1

Table 4. Descriptive statistics of each period including days in period, mean percent horse weight carried, number of rides, and minutes ridden.

 $* \pm$ st. deviation

Table 5. ANOVA for December wither area (cm²), wither width 10cm ventrally from medial line, loin width 5cm ventrally from medial line, %HW carried, and period effect on total pain scores.

Source	DF	SS	MS	F	Р
Loin width (5cm)	1	106.46	106.46	9.06	0.004
Wither width (10cm)	1	205.29	205.29	17.47	0.000
Wither area (cm ²)	1	681.26	681.26	57.98	0.000
% HW carried	1	87.46	87.46	7.44	0.008
Period	4	135.60	33.90	2.89	0.029
Error	70	822.5	11.75		
Total	79				

Period	Total pain score	Score difference from previous
		period
1	$3.21\pm0.99^{\rm a}$	$0.25\pm0.58^{\rm a}$
2	5.65 ± 1.42^{ab}	$2.44\pm0.63^{\rm a}$
3	6.52 ± 1.37^{ab}	$0.88\pm0.57^{\rm a}$
4	7.29 ± 1.62^{b}	$0.77\pm0.86^{\rm a}$
5	4.65 ± 1.30^{ab}	-2.65 ± 0.78^{b}

Table 6. Tukey-Kramer procedure for multiple comparisons of total back pain scores for each period and the change in back pain score from period prior.

^{a,b} Values are different (P<0.05)

Table 7. Regression analysis for total back pain score versus wither width 10cm ventrall	y
from medial line, loin width 5cm ventrally from medial line, wither area in December,	
and percent horse weight carried.	

F-Statist	ic P-Value
6 14.49	0.0003
4 12.31	0.0007
2 10.76	0.002
2 10.31	0.002
	F-Statisti 5 14.49 4 12.31 2 10.76 2 10.31

Horse	Mean %HW	Range of	Number of	Minutes	Pain Totals
	carried	%HW carried	rides	ridden	
1	0.15	0.11 - 0.22	87	3947.5	1.7
2	0.15	0.10 - 0.23	97	3905.3	47.3
4	0.16	0.10 - 0.26	79	2723.6	6.7
5	0.20	0.12 - 0.25	73	4351.2	14.3
8	0.14	0.11 - 0.21	73	3788.2	90.0
14*	0.19	0.15 - 0.23	31	1510.0	62.7
16	0.16	0.11 - 0.24	55	2387.5	14.7
17	0.16	0.12 - 0.20	74	3441.3	26.0
18*	0.17	0.11 - 0.25	97	4698.5	15.0
19*	0.16	0.10 - 0.25	53	3068.0	0.7
20	0.17	0.11 - 0.22	46	2644.0	25.3
21*	0.15	0.11 - 0.21	37	2006.0	38.3
22	0.18	0.13 - 0.24	52	2220.1	6.7
24	0.17	0.11 - 0.23	105	4503.5	6.0
25*	0.15	0.12 - 0.21	41	2374.0	49.3
26	0.16	0.11 - 0.25	109	5162.5	32.3
Average	0.16	-	69	3295.3	$27.3 \pm 25.0^{**}$

Table 8. Overall mean %HW carried, number of rides, minutes ridden, and back pain score total for each horse during the research period.

*Horses that competed in western equitation competition only ** \pm st. deviation

			Wither			Loin	
Horse	Weight Change (kg)	September	December	Wither Change	September	December	Loin Change
1	-18	447.8	432.3	-15.5	318.2	335.5	17.3
2	-2	465.3	421.8	-43.5	333.0	342.6	9.6
4	-45	475.7	459.9	-15.8	398.5	379.3	-19.2
5	-43	367.5	364.9	-2.7	314.9	308.7	-6.2
8	-48	333.3	333.6	0.3	314.3	302.1	-12.2
14	5	373.8	374.3	0.5	344.6	330.6	-14
16	32	426.0	403.7	-22.3	329.8	355.3	25.5
17	16	355.7	385.4	29.7	304.3	326.3	22.0
18	-39	432.1	426.5	-5.6	307.9	349.1	41.2
19	-7	445.7	470.8	25.1	420.2	631.6	211.4
20	-16	408.5	416.2	7.7	377.3	341.9	-35.4
21	-5	443.0	383.4	-59.6	309.5	340.1	30.6
22	-14	458.2	428.9	-29.3	378.1	355.1	-23.0
24	-20	471.5	490.0	18.5	311.7	348.8	37.1
25	-7	461.2	388.6	-72.7	361.8	363.1	1.3
26	-2	359.5	373.9	14.4	295.5	313.2	17.7

Table 9. Wither and loin area (cm²) in September vs. December compared to body weight change (kg).

		Withers											
			5cm			10cm							
Horse	Weight (kg)	September	December	Change in width (5cm)	September	December	Change in width (10cm)						
1	-18	18.5	15.5	-3	30.5	29.6	-0.09						
2	-2	21.3	17.1	-4.2	31.4	30.5	-0.9						
4	-45	20.0	19.9	-0.1	31.5	32.8	1.3						
5	-43	13.5	13.5	0	24.5	24.3	-0.2						
8	-48	12.2	11.5	-0.7	22.6	23.1	0.5						
14	5	16.8	15.4	-1.4	26.7	26.7	0						
16	32	18.2	17.8	-0.4	29.4	28.5	-0.9						
17	16	13.7	13.1	-0.6	25.8	25.1	-0.7						
18	-39	17	16.5	-0.5	28.9	28.6	-0.3						
19	-7	19.5	19.1	-0.4	31.2	32.3	1.1						
20	-16	16.8	17	0.2	27.6	28.9	1.3						
21	-5	18.6	14.2	-4.4	28.9	26.2	-2.7						
22	-14	19	19.5	-3.2	30.8	29.1	-1.7						
24	-20	22.5	23.2	0.7	32.2	34.0	1.8						
25	-7	18.2	15	-3.2	31.9	28.0	-3.9						
26	-2	12.3	13.1	0.8	24.7	25.0	0.3						

Table 10. Wither width measurements (cm) compared to weight change (kg) from September to December.

		Loin								
			5cm			10cm				
Horse	Weight (kg)	September	December	Change in width (5cm)	September	December	Change in width (10cm)			
1	-18	32.5	33.5	1	45.6	46.7	1.1			
2	-2	33.2	32.9	-0.3	44.1	45.1	1			
4	-45	36.9	36.5	-0.4	49.7	48.4	-1.3			
5	-43	30.4	30.6	0.2	40.4	39.9	-0.5			
8	-48	29.5	29.0	-0.5	46.1	44.0	-2.1			
14	5	33.0	33.3	0.3	45.8	45.4	-0.4			
16	32	33.5	35.0	1.5	46.4	47.5	1.1			
17	16	31.4	32.9	1.5	41.5	43.0	1.5			
18	-39	31.8	33.1	1.3	42.9	43.5	0.66			
19	-7	36.8	34.3	-2.5	47.8	44.4	-3.4			
20	-16	34.5	33.7	-0.8	48.5	45.5	-3			
21	-5	30.0	34.0	4	41.3	45.1	3.8			
22	-14	34.5	33.5	-1	42.6	44.6	2			
24	-20	31.5	33.4	1.9	42.1	44.9	2.8			
25	-7	35.8	36.4	0.6	47.2	47.0	-0.2			
26	-2	27.1	30.9	3.8	45.7	47.2	1.5			

Table 11. Loin width measurements (cm) compared to weight change (kg) from September to December.

CONCLUSION

In this study weight carried, wither area and width, and loin width had some effect on back pain. It also appears increasing riding frequency had an effect on back pain scores. Further research using alternative methods for measuring back area and width are warranted to further elucidate or confirm the findings of this study. Using a flexible ruler left room for possible inaccuracy if not shaped well, and had the potential to flare out. Explaining some of the inconsistencies seen when compared to weight change. In further research, it is also suggested that body condition score be observed and recorded, as well as subcutaneous fat and *longissimus dorsi* thickness at the loin.

LITERATURE CITED

- Balcombe, J. P., N. D. Barnard, and C. Sandusky. 2004. Laboratory Routines Cause Animal Stress. Journal of the American Association for Laboratory Animal Science 43:42–51.
- Belock, B., L. Kaiser, M. Lavagnino, and H. Clayton. 2012. Comparison of pressure distribution under a conventional saddle and a treeless saddle at sitting trot. The Veterinary Journal 193:87–91.
- Bufalari, A., C. Adami, G. Angeli, and C. E. Short. 2007. Pain Assessment in Animals. Veterinary Research Communications 31:55–58.
- Burns, G., A. Dart, and L. Jeffcott. 2016. Clinical Progress in the Diagnosis of Thoracolumbar Problems In horses. Equine Veterinary Education. doi:10.1111/eve.12623.
- Byström, A., A. Stalfelt, A. Egenvall, K. V. Peinen, K. Morgan, and L. Roepstorff. 2010. Influence of girth strap placement and panel flocking material on the saddle pressure pattern during riding of horses. Equine Veterinary Journal 42:502–509.
- Christison, G. I., and H. D. Johnson. 1972. Cortisol Turnover in Heat-Stressed Cows. Journal of Animal Science 35:1005.
- Clayton, H. M. 2011. Core training Works! USDF Connection: horse-health connection: 30–33. Available from: https://www.usdf.org/EduDocs/The-Horse/CoreTrainingWorks1.pdf.
- Clayton, H. M., J. L. Lanovaz, H. C. Schamhardt, and R. Wessum. 1999. The effects of a rider's mass on ground reaction forces and fetlock kinematics at the trot. Equine Veterinary Journal 31:218–221.
- Costa, E. D., M. Minero, D. Lebelt, D. Stucke, E. Canali, and M. C. Leach. 2014. Development of the Horse Grimace Scale (HGS) as a Pain Assessment Tool in Horses Undergoing Routine Castration. PLoS ONE 9.
- Daglish, J., and Khursheed R. Mama. 2016 Pain: Its Diagnosis and Management in the Rehabilitation of Horses. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Equine Practice 32:13-29.
- Denoix, J. M. 1987. Kinematics of the thoracolumbar spine of the horse during dorsoventral movements: a preliminary report. http://www.iceep.org/pdf/iceep2/_1129105821_001.pdf.

- Ernst, M., L. Hamm, M. Santiago, and C. S. Porr. 2015. 14 Weight load does not affect equine stress as measured by heart rate, salivary cortisol, and behavior. Journal of Equine Veterinary Science 35:388.
- Findley, J., and E. Singer. 2015. Equine back disorders 1. Clinical presentation, investigation and diagnosis. In Practice 37:456–467.
- Fonseca, B., A. Alves, J. Nicoletti, A. Thomassian, C. Hussni, and S. Mikail. 2006. Thermography and ultrasonography in back pain diagnosis of equine athletes. Journal of Equine Veterinary Science 26:507–516.
- Fruehwirth, B., C. Peham, M. Scheidl, and H. Schobesberger. 2004. Evaluation of pressure distribution under an English saddle at walk, trot and canter. Equine Veterinary Journal 36:754–757.
- Fureix, C., H. Menguy, and M. Hausberger. 2010. Partners with Bad Temper: Reject or Cure? A Study of Chronic Pain and Aggression in Horses. PLoS ONE 5.
- Greve, L., and S. Dyson. 2012. The horse–saddle–rider interaction. The Veterinary Journal 195:275–281.
- Grunau, R. V., and K. D. Craig. 1987. Pain expression in neonates: facial action and cry. Pain 28:395–410.
- Guyton, A. C. 1991. Textbook of Medical Physiology. 8th ed. W.B. Saunders Company, Philadelphia, PA.
- Hall, J., C. Tollison, J. Statterthwaite, and J. Tollison. 2002. Practical Pain Management. 3rd ed. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, PA.
- Hansen, B. D., E. M. Hardie, and G. S. Carroll. 1997. Physiological measurements after ovariohysterectomy in dogs: what's normal? Applied Animal Behaviour Science 51:101–109.
- Hansen, B. D. 2003. Assessment of Pain in Dogs: Veterinary Clinical Studies. ILAR Journal 44:197–205.
- Harman, J. 2004. The Horse's Pain-Free Back and Saddle-Fit Book. Trafalgar Square Publishing, North Pomfret, VT.
- Haussler, K. 1999. Anatomy of the Thoracolumbar Vertebral Region. The Veterinary Clinics of North America: Equine Practice 15:13–26.
- Haussler, K. K., and H. N. Erb. 2003. Pressure Algometry: Objective Assessment of Back Pain and Effects of Chiropractic Treatment. American Association of Equine Practitioners Proceedings 49:66–70.

- Haussler, K., and H. Erb. 2006a. Pressure algometry for the detection of induced back pain in horses: a preliminary study. Equine Veterinary Journal 37:76–81.
- Haussler, K. K., and H. N. Erb. 2006b. Mechanical nociceptive thresholds in the axial skeleton of horses. Equine Veterinary Journal 38:70–75.
- Heus, P. D., G. V. Oossanen, M. C. V. Dierendonck, and W. Back. 2010. A Pressure Algometer Is a Useful Tool to Objectively Monitor the Effect of Diagnostic Palpation by a Physiotherapist in Warmblood Horses. Journal of Equine Veterinary Science 30:310–321.
- Heusner, G., 1993. Ad libitum feeding of mature horses to achieve rapid weight gain. In: Proc 13th Equine Nutr. Phys. Symp., Gainesville, FL. p. 86.
- Higgins, G. 2009. How your horse moves: A unique visual guide to improving performance. David & Charles, Newton Abbot.
- Höllt, V., O. Müller, and R. Fahlbusch. 1979. β-Endorphin in human plasma: Basal and pathologically elevated levels. Life Sciences 25:37–44.
- Jeffcott, L. B. 1979. Back Problems in the Horse-A look at past, present and future progress. Equine Veterinary Journal 11:129–136.
- Jeffcott, L. B. 1980. Disorders of the thoracolumbar spine of the horse a survey of 443 cases. Equine Veterinary Journal 12:197–210.
- Jeffcott, L. B. 1999. Historical Perspective and Clinical Indicators. The Veterinary Clinics of North America: Equine Practice 15, p. 1-12.
- Keating, S. C. J., A. A. Thomas, P. A. Flecknell, and M. C. Leach. 2012. Evaluation of EMLA Cream for Preventing Pain during Tattooing of Rabbits: Changes in Physiological, Behavioural and Facial Expression Responses. PLoS ONE 7.
- Kotschwar, A., A. Baltacis, and C. Peham. 2009. The influence of different saddle pads on force and pressure changes beneath saddles with excessively wide trees. The Veterinary Journal 184:322–325.
- Landman, M. A. A. M., J. A. D. Blaauw, L. J. Hofland, and P. R. V. Weeren. 2004. Field study of the prevalence of lameness in horses with back problems. Veterinary Record 155:165–168.
- Lesimple, C. C. A., C. Fureix, V. Biquand, and M. Hausberger. 2013. Comparison of clinical examinations of back disorders and humans' evaluation of back pain in riding school horses. BMC Veterinary Research 9:209.

- Lesimple, C., C. Fureix, H. Menguy, and M. Hausberger. 2010. Human Direct Actions May Alter Animal Welfare, a Study on Horses (Equus caballus). PLoS ONE 5.
- Ley, S., A. Livingston, and A. Waterman. 1991. Effects of chronic lameness on the concentrations of cortisol, prolactin and vasopressin in the plasma of sheep. Veterinary Record 129:45–47.
- Ley, S., A. Waterman, A. Livingston, and T. Parkinson. 1994. Effect of chronic pain associated with lameness on plasma cortisol concentrations in sheep: a field study. Research in Veterinary Science 57:332–335.
- Love, E. J., J. Murrell, and H. R. Whay. 2011. Thermal and mechanical nociceptive threshold testing in horses: a review. Veterinary Anaesthesia and Analgesia 38:3–14.
- Lupton, J. I., and Mayhew. 1876. Mayhew's Illustrated Horse Management. WM. H. Allen & Co.
- Martin, B. B., and A. M. Klide. 1999. Physical Examination of Horses with Back Pain. The Veterinary Clinics of North America: Equine Practice 15:61–70.
- Menke, E. S., G. Blom, J. P. V. Loon, and W. Back. 2016. Pressure Algometry in Icelandic Horses: Interexaminer and Intraexaminer Reliability. Journal of Equine Veterinary Science 36:26–31.
- Merskey, H., and N. Bogduk. 1994. Classification of chronic pain: descriptions of chronic pain syndromes and definitions of pain terms. IASP Press, Seattle.
- Meschan, E. M., C. Peham, H. Schobesberger, and T. F. Licka. 2007. The influence of the width of the saddle tree on the forces and the pressure distribution under the saddle. The Veterinary Journal 173:578–584.
- Oldruitenborgh-Oosterbaan, M. M. S., A. Barneveld, and H. C. Schamhardt. 1995. Effects of weight and riding on workload and locomotion during treadmill exercise. Equine Veterinary Journal 27:413–417.
- Oliveira, K. C. A. D., R. V. Soutello, R. D. Fonseca, C. Costa, P. R. D. L. Meirelles, D. F. Fachiolli, and H. M. Clayton. 2015. Gymnastic Training and Dynamic Mobilization Exercises Improve Stride Quality and Increase Epaxial Muscle Size in Therapy Horses. Journal of Equine Veterinary Science 35:888–893.
- Peinen, K. V., T. Wiestner, B. V. Rechenberg, and M. A. Weishaupt. 2010. Relationship between saddle pressure measurements and clinical signs of saddle soreness at the withers. Equine Veterinary Journal 42:650–653.

- Powell, D. M., K. Bennett-Wimbush, A. Peeples, and M. Duthie. 2008. Evaluation of Indicators of Weight-Carrying Ability of Light Riding Horses. Journal of Equine Veterinary Science 28:28–33.
- Raekallio, M., P. Taylor, and R. Bennett. 1997. Preliminary Investigations of Pain and Analgesia Assessment in Horses Administered Phenylbutazone or Placebo After Arthroscopic Surgery. Veterinary Surgery 26:150–155.
- Slijper, E. J. 1946. Comparative biologic-anatomical investigations on the vertebral column and spinal musculature of mammals. Amsterdam: North-Holland Pub. Co.
- Smith-Thomas, H., T. Nelson, and K. Allen. 2014. Back Problems in Horses.B. Bevis, editor. The Equine Chronicle. http://www.equinechronicle.com/back-problems-inhorses/.
- Sneddon, L. U. 2004. Pain Perception in Fish: Indicators and Endpoints. ILAR Journal 50:338–342.
- Sotocinal, S. G., R. E. Sorge, A. Zaloum, A. H. Tuttle, L. J. Martin, J. S. Wieskopf, J. C. Mapplebeck, P. Wei, S. Zhan, S. Zhang, J. J. Mcdougall, O. D. King, and J. S. Mogil. 2011. The Rat Grimace Scale: A Partially Automated Method for Quantifying Pain in the Laboratory Rat via Facial Expressions. Molecular Pain 7.
- Stecher, R. M. 1962. Anatomical Variations of the Spine in the Horse. Journal of Mammalogy 43:205–219.
- Taylor, P. M., P. J. Pascoe, and K. R. Mama. 2002. Diagnosing and treating pain in the horse. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Equine Practice 18:1–19.
- Townson, S. 2012. Dressage and the Equine Back. Equine Biomechanics. Available from: https://equinebiomechanics.wordpress.com/2012/01/13/dressage-and-the-equine-back/
- Vanderweeën, L., R. Oostendorp, P. Vaes, and W. Duquet. 1996. Pressure algometry in manual therapy. Manual Therapy 1:258–265.
- Williams, R., D. Marlin, N. Smith, R. Harris, W. Haresign, and M. D. Morel. 2002. Effects of Cool and Hot Humid Environmental Conditions on Neuroendocrine Responses of Horses to Treadmill Exercise. The Veterinary Journal 164:54–63.

APPENDICES

Name	School	Class	Ht	Wt
Rider 1	University 1	12A	5'8"	130
Rider 2	University 2	12A	5'1"	125
Rider 3	University 2	12A	5'4"	125
Rider 4	University 3	12A 5'0"		230
Rider 5	University 4	12A 5'9"		240
Rider 6	Universtiy 3	12A	5'2"	122
		Key		
		>5'7"<1	65lbs	Ht
		>5'7">1	65lbs	Ht +Wt
		<5'7">165lbs		Wt
				Neither

Appendix A. Variation in height (Ht.) and weight (Wt.) of riders in a class at an IHSA horse show.

A	pe	ndix	В.	Exam	ple	of a	horse	list	t used	at	the	draw	table	e foi	· IHSA	com	petitio	n.
_																		

12. Open Sec 1					
1.CMT					
2.Sunny					
3.Tuff					
4.Judy					
5.Precious*					
6.					
Alt 1. Trouble					
Alt 2. Rock					

* asterisk denotes a horse with a height/weight limit set on it, or who cannot carry riders who meet or exceed height/weight limits.

Pain Score	Classification	Description					
0	Pain Free	No reaction observed					
1	Mild	Nose wrinkling, ear flattening, slight spasm upon palpation without related movement					
2	Moderate	Head jerk, bearing teeth, tail lashing, stamping foreleg, (aggressive) tail flattening, rising hind leg, spasm upon palpation with related local movement (e.g. pelvic tilt)					
3	Severe	Kicking, biting, rearing, sour attitude, restlessness, moving away from the hand					
adapted from (Heus et al., 2010)							

Appendix C. Pain scoring system¹ used to record pain response to pressure algometry.

Appendix D. Horse grimace scale.



adapted from (Costa et al., 2014)